ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED  
FEB 15 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF KEITH FITZGERALD BURRIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002122

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in permitting the expert to testify regarding her opinion that Respondent suffered from a personality disorder that made him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment because her opinion regarding his personality disorder was based upon her 2012 evaluation of Respondent, which made it unreliable in assessing his present psychology?
- II. Did trial counsel violate Appellant's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Due Process Clauses of the federal and state constitutions and the statutory right to counsel by failing to introduce evidence of treatment?
- III. Did trial counsel violate Appellant's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Due Process Clauses of the federal and state constitutions or the statutory right to counsel by moving to prohibit evidence concerning the state's expert witness's prior evaluation of Appellant under the SVP statute; in which the expert opined Appellant was not an SVP?
- IV. Did trial counsel violate Appellant's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Due Process Clauses of the federal and state constitutions and the statutory right to counsel by failing to quash the jury panel and re-strike in light of the state's exercise of gender-based strikes in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 4, 2015, the state filed a petition asking for a trial in order to commit Appellant pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator (SVP) Act. R. 241-284.<sup>1</sup> On October 7, 2015, the SVP case was tried before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, and a jury. R. 1. James G. Bogle represented the state, and Anna R. Good represented Appellant. R. 1. After hearing the testimony of the only witness presented by the state, Dr. Marie Gehle, and two defense witnesses – an officer from the detention center and Appellant – the jury found Appellant was a sexually violent predator. R. 191, ll. 3-12. During the deliberations, the jury sent a note requesting “to know how long Mr. Burgess [sic] would be put away,” and asking for his entire criminal record. R. 189, l. 18 – R. 190, l. 2; R. 239. Judge Hayes ordered Appellant be “committed to the Department of Mental Health for his long-term control, care, and treatment.” R. 292.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> In various places in the transcript, Appellant, whose name is Keith Burris, is referred to as Kenneth Burgess and Kenneth Burris. These appear to be typographical errors or the result of participants misspeaking.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The state alleged Appellant had a qualifying conviction of criminal solicitation of minor under the SVP Act. R. 99, ll. 6-11; R. 205-208; R. 241-284. On November 13, 2014, Appellant entered a guilty plea to the charge in exchange for a negotiated sentence of ten years' imprisonment suspended upon two years' imprisonment and five years' probation. R. 94, l. 17 – R. 95, l. 1; R. 205-208; R. 241-284. Appellant was scheduled to be released on April 28, 2015. R. \*(petition). As a result, the Department of Corrections referred him to the Multi-Disciplinary Team for assessment under the Act. R. 241-284. On January 22, 2015, the Team determined Appellant satisfied the definition and sent the case to the Prosecutor's Review Committee. R. 241-284. Thereafter, the Committee found probable cause to believe Appellant was a SVP. R. 241-284. The state then filed a petition to commit Appellant as a SVP pursuant to the Act and requested a trial. R. 241-284.

In addition to the qualifying conviction, Appellant was charged in 1997 with criminal sexual conduct with a minor (CSCM). R. 86, ll. 18-19; R. 241-284. He entered a guilty plea to the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) in June of 1999. R. 86, ll. 20-21; R. 241-284. He was sentenced to five years' imprisonment suspended upon time served and three years' probation. R. 241-284. Subsequently, in 2004, he was charged with three counts of CSCM in the second degree. R. 87, l. 25 – R. 88, l. 9; R. 197-204; R. 241-284. He entered guilty pleas to those charges on January 24, 2005. R. 88, lines 2-9; R. 94, l. 4; R. 197-204; R. 241-284. The judge sentenced him to a negotiated sentence of ten years' imprisonment on each count to be served concurrently. R. 197-204; R. 241-284.

Dr. Marie Gehle evaluated Appellant in 2012. At that time, she diagnosed Appellant with "antisocial personality disorder but concluded he was not of such a risk to reoffend in a sexually violent manner as to warrant commitment." R. 209-238; R. 241-284. Dr. Gehle evaluated

Appellant again in May of 2014. R. 241-284. At that time, she did not conduct any psychological testing to determine whether Appellant satisfied the criteria for antisocial personality disorder, or any other mental abnormality or personality disorder. R. 105, lines 16-17. Instead, she relied upon her evaluation in 2012 to maintain Appellant had a personality disorder, specifically, antisocial personality disorder. R. 112, l. 16 – R. 113, l. 2; R. 209-238. She stated that in her opinion, Appellant’s “personality predisposes him to commit a wide variety of criminal offenses that also includes sexual offenses.” R. 115, ll. 4-12. She opined that Appellant’s “propensity” was “of such an effect that it’s caused a menace to the health and safety of others.” R. 115, ll. 13-17. Further, she stated Appellant had “the propensity to be dangerous and commit future sexually violent offenses.” R. 115, ll. 13-17. Appellant’s “antisocial personality disorder” and other risk factors cause serious difficulty for him in controlling his behavior. R. 115, l. 22 – R. 116, l. 2. Finally, she concluded Appellant’s personality disorder made him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment. R. 116, ll. 3-7; R. 209-238.

Specifically, during the 2012 evaluation, Dr. Gehle tested Appellant using the MMPI. R. 104, ll. 6-12; R. 105, ll. 13-15. This 500+ question test was designed “to determine whether somebody has problems in certain areas related to mental health problems or personality problems.” R. 104, ll. 17-22. From the test, Dr. Gehle “learned that [Appellant] has very strong antisocial personality attitudes.” R. 105, ll. 7-10. She also performed a Static 99R test, which is an actuarial risk assessment tool. R. 105, ll. 21-25. According to this ten-question test, Dr. Gehle determined Appellant scored a five out of twelve. R. 108, ll. 4-11. This score placed Appellant in the “moderate high risk” category. R. 108, ll. 17-19. According to the recidivism table accompanying the test, she opined that Appellant had a 21.2% chance of re-offending sexually within five years. R. 108, ll. 22-24. In other words, he had a 79% chance of not re-offending within five years. R.

119, ll. 4-8. Further, she opined that Appellant had a 32% chance of re-offending sexually within ten years. R. 109, ll. 3-5. This meant Appellant had a 68% chance of not re-offending. R. 119, ll. 9-12.

In scoring the Static 99R, Dr. Gehle gave Appellant one point for a CDV conviction from the 1980s because the test assigns one point when a person has a prior conviction for nonsexual violence. R. 132, ll. 5-22; R. 134, ll. 9-13. In other words, one of his five points was from a CDV conviction in the 1980s, over thirty years before the SVP trial. R. 132, ll. 23-24. Appellant received negative one point because of his age at the time of release. R. 133, ll. 5-15. He got zero points because he lived with a romantic partner for two consecutive years. R. 133, ll. 16-19. He also got zero points because his last conviction was unaccompanied by other offenses. R. 133, l. 20 – R. 134, l. 8. He then got a score of three because in 1998 he was charged with and convicted of a sex offense – the ABHAN – and in 2003, he was convicted of three sexually related offenses. R. 134, l. 14 – R. 135, l. 9. Appellant received another point because he had four or more prior sentencing dates for any offenses. R. 135, ll. 13 – 24. Appellant received zero points because he had no convictions for non-contact sexual offenses, such as peeping tom. He also got one point because his alleged victims were not related to him. R. 137, ll. 3-10. He got zero points because his alleged victims were not strangers and his alleged victims were not males. R. 137, ll. 11-17. Thus, he had a score of five.

Dr. Gehle's testimony, coupled with certified copies of Appellant's prior convictions, was the sum total of the state's case. Appellant did not dispute that he had been convicted of a sexually violent offense. R. 72, ll. 16-20; R. 169, ll. 15-20. The only dispute was the second element - whether Appellant suffered from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that made him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care,

and treatment. R. 72, ll. 20-23; R. 169, ll. 20-22. More precisely, Appellant's focus at trial was whether he had a present personality disorder and whether out-patient treatment would address any problems sufficiently. R. 171, l. 7 – R. 172, l. 12; R. 173, ll. 11-18.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in permitting the expert to testify regarding her opinion that Respondent suffered from a personality disorder that made him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment because her opinion regarding his personality disorder was based upon her 2012 evaluation of Respondent, which made it unreliable in assessing his present psychology.

### **Relevant facts**

During pre-trial hearings, trial counsel moved to prohibit the state's expert, Dr. Marie Gehle, from testifying regarding her diagnosis of Appellant with antisocial personality disorder because the testing to arrive at that diagnosis was conducted in 2012 and the statute requires a finding by the jury that the person has a present personality disorder. R. 40, ll. 2-18; R. 40, l. 21 – R. 41, l. 21. Trial counsel explained the 2012 testing occurred three years prior to the current proceeding, and as a result, the test could not indicate that Appellant had a present personality disorder. R. 41, ll. 12-21. The state admitted that Dr. Gehle evaluated Appellant in 2012 pursuant to a petition filed by the state. R. 42, ll. 7-8. At that time, Dr. Gehle determined Appellant did not meet the criteria for SVP although he had a personality disorder. R. 42, ll. 8-9. Following Appellant's subsequent conviction, Dr. Gehle evaluated Appellant again. R. 42, ll. 9-11. Dr. Gehle changed her opinion – just three years later, she opined Appellant was a SVP. R. 42, ll. 11-13. The state argued “[a]nything going about the prior evaluation really goes to the weight of her testimony as opposed to it's [*sic*] admissibility.” R. 42, ll. 14-16. The judge concluded the expert could “testify as to her prior evaluation” and that trial counsel's objection went “to the weight of her testimony not to the admissibility of it.” R. 44, ll. 6-8; R. 45, ll. 8-12.

Appellant submitted Dr. Gehle's report as an exhibit for identification purposes only. R. 209-238. The report made clear that it was primarily based upon the 2012 evaluation. R. 209-238. She also told the jurors she had evaluated Appellant "on a previous occasion." R. 80, ll. 6-8. Dr. Gehle testified that in her opinion, Appellant suffered from antisocial personality disorder. R. 113, ll. 1-2. She told the jurors that antisocial personality disorder is a pervasive pattern of disregard for and violations of the rights of others. R. 114, ll. 19-20. According to Dr. Gehle, "the primary personality disorder related to sexually violent offender and sexually violent civil commitment is antisocial personality disorder." R. 82, ll. 20-23.

During the 2012 evaluation, Dr. Gehle tested Appellant using the MMPI. R. 104, ll. 6-12; R. 105, ll. 13-15; R. 126, ll. 22-25; R. 209-238. This test was designed "to determine whether somebody has problems in certain areas related to mental health problems or personality problems." R. 104, ll. 17-22; R. 127, ll. 3-12. From the test, Dr. Gehle "learned that [Appellant] has very strong antisocial personality attitudes." R. 105, ll. 7-10. She did not "feel it was necessary to redo the MMPI" because it is "something that's stable over time." R. 105, lines 16-17. However, she was forced to admit that a person's personality problems, including disorders, could change over time. Tr. 134, ll. 13-18. She also explained that the test "can take somebody a couple of hours" to complete because it is "very long" and she "didn't want to give him that long test again." R. 105, ll. 18-19; R. 127, ll. 19-22. Based upon this diagnosis, Dr. Gehle concluded Appellant had a predisposition to commit a "wide variety of criminal offenses," including sexual offenses, had a "propensity to be dangerous and commit future sexually violent offenses," had difficulty controlling his behavior, and was likely to engage in acts of sexual violence unless confined for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 115, l. 4 – R. 116, l. 7.

## Discussion

According to the statute, a sexually violent predator is a person who “suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(1)(b). Obviously, the statute was written in the present tense because the legislature sought to commit only individuals with a present mental abnormality or personality disorder. Additionally, a person is considered likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if “the person’s propensity to commit acts of sexual violence is such a degree as to pose a menace to the health and safety of others.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-30(9). Again, the present tense in the statute indicates the legislature’s desire to commit only those who presently pose a danger. The South Carolina Supreme Court made this clear in In re Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 774 S.E.2d 462 (2015). The Court explained the state “must prove, beyond a reasonable doubt that the individual is *presently* a sex offender.” Id. at 23, 774 S.E.2d at 466 (emphasis in original); see also State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 551, 564 S.E.2d 87, 90 (2002)(holding that the SVP Act allows “involuntary confinement based upon the determination the person currently suffers from both a mental abnormality or personality disorder and is likely to engage in acts of sexual violence”).

In Taft, the state’s expert examined the respondent “nearly two years earlier in June 2009” and that based on that previous evaluation, the expert opined Taft suffered from pedophilia and met the statutory definition of a SVP. Taft, 413 S.C. at 20, 774 S.E.2d at 464-465. The state’s expert’s opinion was based upon his administration of several risk assessment tests to measure Taft’s likelihood of reoffending. Id. at 20, 774 S.E.2d at 465. The Supreme Court explained the state’s expert’s opinion was that Taft met the statutory definition of SVP in 2009 and was not a current opinion. Id. at 23, 774 S.E.2d at 466.

Although the expert in Taft refused to render a current opinion as to whether Taft met the statutory definition of SVP at the time of his trial, the Court's holdings in the case are instructive to the instant matter. Dr. Gehle's opinion concerning Appellant's personality disorder was based upon her evaluation of Appellant in 2012, three years prior to his SVP trial. Although she claimed the MMPI test, which she used to diagnose Appellant with a personality disorder, was stable over time, she admitted that a person's psychology changes over time. Her testimony revealed her reluctance to administer the MMPI again was due to the length of the examination, and not due to confidence of the results. As explained by the Supreme Court, "[a] civil proceeding to commit an individual, perhaps for life, following service of his criminal sentence, is an extraordinary remedy," therefore, the state must prove the respondent's present mental status, not a past mental status, and should not be permitted to use test results for the sake of expediency over accuracy. See Taft, 413 S.C. at 23, 774 S.E.2d at 466. Permitting the state to use an expert's evaluation from a prior criminal proceeding "would obviate any possibility of rehabilitee during incarceration" and "would violate the legislature's statutory scheme, which clearly envisions a new civil commit proceeding based upon current evidence that the individual suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment." Id.

II. Trial counsel violate Appellant's right to the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Due Process Clauses of the federal and state constitutions and the statutory right to counsel by failing to introduce evidence of treatment.

**Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, the state moved to prohibit the introduction of evidence and argument regarding whether Appellant would receive treatment or the nature of that treatment if he were committed pursuant to the SVP Act. R. 288-291. In the motion, Respondent admitted the statute defined a SVP as a person with a mental abnormality or personality disorder, which made the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 288-291. However, incongruously, the state argued proof of this element was not required. R. 288-291. According to the state, allowing Appellant "to pose arguments and questions as to his future treatment [would] place[] an additional burden on the state to prove the potential for treatment success." R. 288-291. Thereafter, the state appeared to argue it was unable to provide effective treatment for Appellant, and therefore, any evidence regarding treatment should not be presented to the jury. R. 288-291. According to the state, allowing evidence regarding treatment would create an additional element for the state to prove for confinement. R. 288-291.

During the hearing on the motion, Respondent argued treatment was "outside the realm" of what the state was required to prove. R. 34, ll. 5-8. Further, the state argued evidence regarding treatment "was speculative at best" because the type of treatment needed was unknown and the state's expert was not responsible for determining the treatment regimen, particularly in light of the fact that she had "not been involved in treatment for some time." R. 34, ll. 8-13. The state

continued by suggesting that “any allegations or testimony about the type of treatment that he might get would confuse the jury and ... place an additional burden on the state.” R. 34, ll. 13-16.

Trial counsel argued only that she should be permitted to present evidence concerning outpatient and in-patient treatment. R. 34, ll. 19-21. Trial counsel explained that the statute concerned confining a person for “long term control, care, and treatment,” which implicated in-patient treatment. R. 34, ll. 21-24. Trial counsel requested the opportunity to present evidence of the utility of out-patient treatment. R. 34, ll. 24-25. Respondent agreed to permit trial counsel to question the witnesses concerning out-patient treatment. R. 35, l. 2. In light of the parties’ agreement, the judge limited the evidence concerning treatment to the existence of out-patient treatment. R. 35, l. 3.

Over the course of the trial, the jury heard the word “treatment” repeatedly, but never learned of the type of treatment, if any, Appellant would receive if found to be a SVP. In his opening statement, Respondent told the jurors the state had to prove that Appellant required “involuntary civil commitment in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.” R. 69, ll. 14-18; R. 70, ll. 7-11. He emphasized the state was “trying to commit [Appellant] to a facility for long-term control, care, and treatment for these sexual problems that he has.” R. 70, ll. 12-14. Additionally, the state told the jurors that his expert witness would tell them she found Appellant had a mental abnormality or personality disorder that made him so likely to commit these types of crimes that he needed to be confined for treatment. R. 71, ll. 2-6. He boiled it down very succinctly: “Has [Appellant] been convicted of the right kind of crimes and does he have that mental condition that makes him likely to reoffend so badly that he needs to be committed for care and treatment?” R. 71, ll. 20-23.

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