STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From York County
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-002122

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
KEITH FITZGERALD BURRIS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly allowed the State's expert to testify regarding the results of her May 2015 evaluation of Appellant. (Appellant's Issue I)

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in allowing Dr. Gehle to testify regarding her opinion of Appellant's ASPD because it was premised on testing from her 2012 evaluation of Appellant. While Dr. Gehle did review documentation from the 2012 evaluation, including the personality assessment, the opinion she testified to at trial was premised on the full evaluation she conducted in 2015.

A cursory comparison of Dr. Gehle's 2012 evaluation report and her 2015 trial testimony reveals significant differences between them. (TT, pp. 82-124; Defendant's Exhibit 1 (for ID purposes); R., pp. 75-117, 209-238). As a threshold matter, the 2012 evaluation did not consider any information regarding Appellant's 2014 criminal solicitation of a minor conviction for the obvious reason the information did not exist in 2012. Further, all the documentation from Appellant's offenses prior to 2012 did not change from 2012 to 2015, and Dr. Gehle properly reviewed all that documentation as part of the 2015 evaluation.

Appellant's reliance on In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 774 S.E.2d 462 (2015), is misplaced. The expert in Taft "expressly testified that he '[did not] have the personal contact and the personal interview that [he] would need to do to form a current and active opinion' because 'to be able to say whether [Taft] is a sexually violent predator now, [he] would have to be able to evaluate [him],'" and "admitted on cross-examination that 'as of [that day] he could not give an opinion as to whether or not [Taft] is a sexually violent predator.'"

Id. at 466 (alterations in original).¹

Unlike the expert in Taft, Dr. Gehle had the personal contact and personal interview necessary to render an opinion as to Appellant's "present" mental status. Also contrary to Taft, Dr. Gehle testified to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant had ASPD and was a significant risk to reoffend sexually **as of the date of trial** in 2015. Simply stated, the analysis in Taft does not apply to this case.

¹The State had an expert ready to testify who evaluated Taft two months prior to trial, but his testimony was excluded.

II. If appropriate for consideration on direct appeal, Appellant's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are premised on speculation, misstatements of the record, and appellate counsel's opinions regarding what trial counsel should have done, without benefit of trial counsel's input. (Appellant's Issues II, III, IV)

Appellant contends trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law, specifically by failing to introduce evidence of treatment (Issue II), moving to exclude Dr. Gehle's previous evaluation of Appellant (Issue III), and failing to make a Batson² motion challenging the State's jury strikes (Issue IV). He further asserts his alleged ineffectiveness should be determined in this direct appeal, asking this Court to ignore long standing issue preservation precedent, and essentially apply a plain error standard of review to decide the issues anyway, all without affording trial counsel an opportunity to be heard. Further, assuming the right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA cases, there is a well-established and available mechanism for him to raise ineffective assistance of counsel issues arising from a sexually violent predator case.

A. Effective Assistance of Counsel in SVPA Cases

Appellant argues, extensively, that in addition to the statutory right to counsel, there is a due process right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA cases under the federal and state constitutions. The South Carolina Supreme Court has already determined a person the State seeks to commit under the SVPA has no Sixth or Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel, but does have a statutory right to counsel under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90 (2003). In re McCoy, 360 S.C. 425, 602 S.E.2d 58, 59 (2004)³; *see also* In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d

²476 U.S. 79 (1986)

³Even though the Supreme Court specifically cited the Fourteenth Amendment in the McCoy opinion, by way of footnote, Appellant asserts the Fourteenth Amendment reference was dicta, and the constitutional issue was not before the Court. To the contrary, rather than mere dicta, the constitutional references in McCoy were central to the Court's adoption of a meritless appeal procedure in SVPA cases.

235, 240 (2001) (the only right to counsel under the SVPA is the statutory right to the assistance of appointed counsel).

The primary issue, therefore, is whether the statutory right under the SVPA encompasses the right to “effective” assistance of counsel.⁴ The statute does not afford that right, normally arising from the Sixth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, which do not apply to civil cases under the SVPA. In essence, Appellant is attempting to put a square peg in a round hole, and asks this Court to juxtapose post-conviction relief (PCR) rights and procedures on SVPA proceedings, minus the inconvenience of providing a record for meaningful appellate review.

If this Court holds the statutory right to counsel under the SVPA includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, however, the remaining issues are how such claims should be litigated, and what standard should be used to determine whether counsel was ineffective. Rather than force the square peg into a round hole, there is already a round hole available to Appellant, even though it may be inconvenient for him to use it.

The South Carolina Constitution provides the “privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended unless when, in case of insurrection, rebellion or invasion, the public safety may require it.” S.C. Const., Art. 1, §18. Habeas corpus is available when other remedies, such as PCR, are inadequate or unavailable. Hamm v. State, 403 S.C. 461, 744 S.E.2d 503, 504 (2013); *see also* Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. 473, 671 S.E.2d 600, 602 (2008) (“a writ of habeas corpus is reserved for the very gravest of constitutional violations which, in the setting, constitute a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice”); McWee v. State, 357 S.C. 403, 593 S.E.2d 456, 457 (2004) (habeas relief will only be granted under

⁴Appellant accurately notes this very issue is currently pending before the Supreme Court in another SVPA case, which has been fully briefed and argued.

“unique and compelling circumstances”); Butler v. State, 302 S.C. 466, 397 S.E.2d 87, 88 (1990) (“[N]ot every intervening decision, nor every constitutional error at trial will justify issuance of the writ.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The PCR statute superseded habeas corpus for post-conviction relief, but the common law privilege still exists, and Appellant cites no cases to the contrary. As noted above, the SVPA does not provide a process for litigating ineffective assistance of appointed counsel, and therefore, if the Court holds the SVPA statutory right to counsel includes effective assistance of counsel, habeas corpus is available to address those issues.

In Hamm, a SVPTP resident filed a habeas petition in the South Carolina Supreme Court seeking release from his civil commitment under the SVPA, alleging counsel in his criminal case was ineffective under Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), by failing to advise him of the SVPA implications before he pled guilty to the predicate SVPA offense.⁵ The Court denied the petition, finding the resident failed to file a timely PCR petition on the issue, and therefore, failed to exhaust all available remedies before seeking habeas relief. Hamm at 504.

Significantly, the Court did **not** hold habeas relief was never available to a SVPTP resident, and as discussed above, precluding habeas relief would be contrary to the state constitution. To the contrary, the Court explicitly recognizes a SVPTP resident’s right to file a habeas petition when appropriate. In re: McCracken, 346 S.C. 7, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (SVPTP resident’s remedy for unconstitutional confinement under the SVPA would be by writ of habeas corpus). *See also* Douglas v. Hall, 229 S.C. 550, 93 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1956) (writ of habeas corpus always available to test the legality of proceedings in which person was civilly committed on grounds of insanity).

⁵In fact, multiple SVPTP residents have filed habeas petitions in the circuit court.

Requiring a petition for habeas relief to assert SVPA ineffective assistance of counsel allegations avoids the problem of trying to decide such claims on the record in a direct appeal, a problem readily apparent in this case. A habeas proceeding would include an evidentiary hearing similar to PCR hearings, which affords trial counsel the opportunity to address the ineffective assistance of counsel allegations, and provides the appellate courts a full record, including the circuit court's findings and conclusions, for review purposes. Absent a full record, the appellate courts: 1) will not have the benefit of trial counsel's input, and have to assume counsel had no legitimate, strategic reasons for proceeding in a particular way; 2) engage in rank speculation based on appellate counsel's assertions regarding what trial counsel should, or should not, have done; 3) ignore issue preservation rules; and 4) apply the plain error standard of review consistently rejected in South Carolina.

Of particular note is Appellant's request for relief as to each ineffective assistance allegation – remand to the circuit court for a hearing to develop the issues. South Carolina appellate courts unquestionably have discretion to remand any case to the trial court for further proceedings, but there is no established precedent in South Carolina providing for remand **only** to develop issues raised for the first time on direct appeal when the party has another available avenue, such as habeas corpus, to raise those issues. Remanding under the circumstances of this case essentially eviscerates issue preservation and imposes a plain error standard of review.

In Manning v. State, 913 So.2d 37 (1st Dist Fla. Ct. App., 2005), the court determined habeas corpus, rather than direct appeal, was the appropriate avenue to develop and decide a committee's ineffective assistance of counsel claims in cases under Florida's sexually violent predator statute, even though a habeas proceeding might not be the most convenient process. Subsequent to the Manning case, the Florida Supreme Court promulgated Rule 4.460, Florida

Rules of Civil Procedure for Involuntary Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators, which expressly provides habeas corpus is an available mechanism to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in sexual predator cases. Bohner v. State, 157 So.3d 526, 527 (1st Dist. Fla. Ct. App., 2015).

Admittedly, as Appellant notes, some courts have decided ineffective assistance claims on direct appeal in sexual predator cases when the claims did not require development of facts, which is not the case currently before this Court. As discussed below, notwithstanding Appellant's conclusory proclamations regarding trial counsel's deficiencies, Appellant concedes all of his allegations require development of facts before a court can render a truly informed decision on whether trial counsel was so ineffective it shocked the conscious, and Appellant was prejudiced to the point he could not receive a fair trial.

If the Court finds the SVPA statutory right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, the State submits Appellant has an available procedure to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims, if such a right exists, which will result in development of a full record for appellate review, and he should not be able to circumvent well established issue preservation rules by raising his claims in this direct appeal. While remand may be possible, remanding this case will set a precedent for similar claims in virtually all SVPA proceedings, and any other proceeding in which habeas relief is available but inconvenient. Therefore, even if the Court finds a right to effective assistance of counsel exists in SVPA cases, the Court should find Appellant's claims are not preserved for direct review, and affirm Appellant's commitment as a sexually violent predator.

As to Appellant's specific allegations of ineffective assistance, responding to such allegations without counsel's input, which are still protected by the attorney/client privilege,

requires the State to speculate regarding matters outside the record, such as counsel's interaction with her client, and her strategic decisions at trial. With that limitation in mind, the State submits each specific allegation is meritless.

B. Evidence Regarding Treatment (Appellant's Issue II)

Appellant asserts trial counsel was ineffective by essentially acquiescing to the State's motion to exclude inquiry regarding where Appellant would be housed and what type of treatment he would receive if committed, and by failing to ask Dr. Gehle questions about the treatment. Both assertions focus on one word in the statute rather than the statute as a whole, and are meritless.

In a SVPA trial, the jury must find beyond a reasonable doubt the person has been convicted of a sexually violent offense, and has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to reoffend sexually (**"if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment."** S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-30 (Supp. 2014) (emphasis added). Thus, under the plain language of the statute, the relevant elements for the jury are 1) a sexually violent offense conviction, 2) a mental abnormality or personality disorder, 3) which makes the person likely to reoffend sexually, 4) unless the person is confined for long-term control, care and treatment.

The location of the secure facility and the efficacy of the treatment provided there are absolutely irrelevant during an SVPA commitment trial, and any evidence regarding them is potentially confusing for the jury and inadmissible. The State sought to exclude such evidence in this case because respondents in SVPA cases routinely elicit testimony revealing the SVP treatment program is currently located in the former "death row" at Broad River Correctional Institution, and attacking the treatment provided there, in order to focus the jury on those

irrelevant issues. By agreeing not to offer clearly irrelevant evidence and needlessly complicate the trial, trial counsel acted ethically, which is not ineffective assistance of counsel.

Appellant contends counsel should have pursued this issue because the word “treatment” was used repeatedly during the trial, including opening statements, Dr. Gehle’s testimony, closing arguments and the jury charges. This contention fails to consider the context of the references to treatment.

As noted above, one of the elements the jury had to find beyond a reasonable doubt was whether Appellant was likely to reoffend if **not confined** for treatment. When the treatment references are considered in context, it is clear they went directly to that element, and had nothing to do with either the location of the facility or the efficacy of the treatment provided there.⁶

C. Evidence of Appellant’s Prior Evaluation (Issue III)

Appellant argues counsel was ineffective by moving to exclude evidence regarding Dr. Gehle’s 2012 evaluation of Appellant. Counsel argued allowing the jury to know Appellant had previously been evaluated under the SVPA would be prejudicial. (TT, pp. 44-49; R., pp. 39-44).

This allegation starkly reveals the danger of attempting to decide an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal. Trial counsel clearly made a strategic decision regarding how to handle the fact Appellant was previously evaluated under the SVPA, and the Court cannot analyze that decision on the current record. The fact appellate counsel may have handled the issue differently does not lead to the conclusion trial counsel was ineffective. *See State v. Van Cleave*, 239 Kan. 117, 516 P.2d 580 (1986) (when making ineffective assistance of counsel

⁶The SVPA provides the mental status of any person committed thereunder must be reviewed annually. S.C. Code Ann. §44-48-110 (Supp. 2014). Issues regarding the treatment provided, or lack thereof, can be raised during the annual review process.

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